No. S241431

IN THE SUPREME COURT

FOR THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

SUPREME COURT FILED

SEP 2 5 2017

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

Deputy

JANICE JARMAN,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

VS.

HCR MANORCARE, INC. and MANOR CARE OF HEMET CA, LLC,

Defendants and Appellants.

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

After a Published Opinion of the Fourth District Court of Appeal, Division Three Case No. G051086

Superior Court of the State of California
County of Riverside
Hon. Phrasel Shelton and Hon. John Vineyard
Case No. RIC10007764

MANATT, PHELPS & PHILLIPS, LLP

Michael M. Berger (Bar No. CA 043228)
Barry S. Landsberg (Bar No. CA 117284)
*Joanna S. McCallum (Bar No. CA 187093)
11355 West Olympic Boulevard

I. ISSUES FOR REVIEW

- (1) Does Health and Safety Code section 1430, subdivision (b) (Section 1430(b)) authorize a maximum award of \$500 per "cause of action" in a lawsuit, as held below, or \$500 per lawsuit, as held in Nevarrez and Lemaire?¹
 - (2) Does Section 1430(b) authorize an award of punitive damages?

II. INTRODUCTION

This case presents two issues of pure statutory interpretation. Section 1430(b) creates a private right of action for a nursing home resident to sue the facility for violating certain "rights of a resident." The statute authorizes injunctive relief, attorneys' fees and costs, and "up to five hundred dollars (\$500)" in "a civil action." The Opinion below misinterpreted this statute in fundamental ways, requiring reversal.

Section 1430(b) is one strand of an extensive network of state and federal administrative monitoring and enforcement mechanisms and civil damages remedies, focused on nursing home resident safety and health. Section 1430(b), which caps any monetary award at \$500, but also provides for attorneys' fees and costs as well as injunctive relief, specifically is intended to address violations of rights that have "only a minimal relationship" to resident health and safety. (22 Cal. Code Regs., § 72701, subd.(a)(4); see also *Nevarrez*, 221 Cal.App.4th at 135.) In contrast, violations that endanger patients are the subject of the companion statute, Health and Safety Code section 1430, subdivision (a) (Section 1430(a)),

¹ Nevarrez v. San Marino Skilled Nursing & Wellness Centre (2013) 221 Cal.App.4th 102, 137, review denied Feb. 11, 2014, No. S215327; Lemaire v. Covenant Care Cal., LLC (2015) 234 Cal.App.4th 860, 868.

which authorizes administrative penalties and substantial civil damages on a per-citation basis. Section 1430(b) is not—as the court below seemed to believe—the fundamental remedy for nursing home residents. Various other remedies and disincentives are imposed under California law against nursing homes that violate residents' rights, including traditional compensatory and punitive remedies under other statutes and tort law. (*Lemaire*, 234 Cal.App.4th at 867 [Section 1430(b) "is not a substitute for the standard damage causes of action for injuries suffered by residents of nursing care facilities."].)

The Court of Appeal's Opinion warrants reversal on two grounds. First, as explained in the two recent opinions in *Nevarrez* and *Lemaire*, Section 1430(b) provides a single award of up to \$500 in any one lawsuit, regardless of the number of resident rights violations proven. The Opinion here held contrarily that a plaintiff may recover multiple awards of up to \$500 for each "cause of action." The upshot is that instead of one award of \$500, the court below affirmed an award of \$95,500 for 382 "violations."

This conclusion is unsupported by any of the authorities or rationales cited in the Opinion and is directly at odds with Section 1430(b)'s language, which authorizes a maximum of \$500 in "a civil action." The Opinion ignores the larger statutory and regulatory context of Section 1430(b) and the multi-part administrative enforcement scheme and provision of substantial civil penalties and damages for a nursing facility's violations of laws that cause or threaten harm to residents. More importantly, the Opinion did not acknowledge the *eight separate legislative* proposals to increase or remove the maximum limitation on the Section 1430(b) award—none of which was adopted.

Contrary to the Opinion's view, limiting the award to the maximum imposed by the Legislature does not leave residents uncompensated if they have suffered harm. Section 1430(b) claims are invariably brought alongside claims for statutory elder abuse, wrongful death, negligence, and many other claims that can provide compensation for harm. Because of the other administrative and damages remedies available and the provision of injunctive relief and attorneys' fees, "the argument that the \$500 statutory maximum must be applied on a 'per violation' basis in order to make private enforcement feasible does not withstand scrutiny." (Nevarrez, 221 Cal.App.4th at 135.) "The fact that the private monetary remedy is not greater reflects a legislative choice with respect to that remedy, rather than a basis for a court to enhance the statutory scheme." (Id. at 132.)

The Opinion rejected both the per-lawsuit approach adopted in the prior case law and the per-violation approach urged by the plaintiff. It devised something no one had suggested or presented in the trial court, which it called a "third option": that Section 1430(b) authorizes an award of up to \$500 for each "cause of action" proven. The number of "causes of action" would be determined by applying the primary right theory—which, as this Court recently observed, is "ill-suited" to application outside the res judicata context. (*Baral v. Schnitt* (2016) 1 Cal.5th 376, 395.)

The theory is particularly "ill-suited" here, as explained at pp. 39-48, infra. Among other reasons, the primary right doctrine is focused on the harm to the plaintiff; Section 1430(b) does not involve any notion of harm and imposes strict liability in cases where, in most instances, the resident has suffered no harm.

Second, compounding the damage done to the law by its "primary right" holding, the court below held sua sponte that punitive damages are

available for a violation of Section 1430(b), a proposition that not even the plaintiff—nor any plaintiff, to ManorCare's knowledge—ever asserted.² This holding contradicts settled analyses for determining whether punitive damages are available for a statutory violation. Specifically, courts will not read a punitive damages provision into a statute where the Legislature has expressed a "contrary" intent. (Commodore Home Systems, Inc. v. Superior Court (1982) 32 Cal.3d 211, 215.) The Legislature unequivocally expressed a contrary intent in enacting Section 1430(b), when it considered adding an express punitive damages provision, and then deleted that provision. The Opinion did not address this dispositive point.³

Moreover, an award of compensatory damages is a necessary predicate for any punitive award; the \$500 authorized by Section 1430(b) is without regard to harm suffered and thus is not compensatory. Granting punitive damages for a Section 1430(b) violation could result in a vastly larger award for an uninjured resident who experienced violations of laws with "only a minimal relationship" to his or her safety, while those residents suffering actual or threatened physical harm would have their damages capped by Section 1430(b)'s companion statute, Section 1430(a).

Both parts of the Opinion's holding are contrary to law and are bad policy. Neither can withstand scrutiny under basic principles of statutory interpretation. The Opinion's expansive interpretation to authorize substantial monetary awards under Section 1430(b) is contrary to that

² Defendants HCR ManorCare, Inc. and Manor Care of Hemet CA, LLC are referred to as "ManorCare."

³ As the plaintiff here had not sought punitive damages under Section 1430(b), this issue was not briefed to the Court of Appeal. ManorCare petitioned for rehearing and submitted the legislative history demonstrating the Legislature's specific rejection of a punitive damages remedy when it enacted Section 1430(b). The court denied rehearing.

statute's purpose, and is not necessary in order to effectuate the different purpose of protecting the health and safety of nursing home residents. The Court "will not presume . . . that any result consistent with [plaintiff's] account of the statute's overarching goal must be the law but will presume more modestly instead 'that [the] legislature says . . . what it means and means . . . what it says." (Henson v. Santander Consumer USA Inc. (2017) 137 S.Ct. 1718, 1725 [citations omitted].) The Legislature made clear what it meant in Section 1430(b): a single maximum award of \$500 and no punitive damages. The Opinion should be reversed.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

John Jarman was a resident for three months in 2008 at a skilled nursing facility operated by Manor Care of Hemet CA, LLC.⁴ (1-CT-3 ¶ 7.⁵) Manor Care of Hemet CA, LLC is indirectly owned by HCR ManorCare, Inc. (1-CT-2 ¶¶ 3-4.)

The complaint alleged three causes of action: (1) violation of Section 1430(b); (2) elder abuse and neglect under Welfare & Institutions Code section 15657; and (3) negligence. (1-CT-6-12.) All of the claims were based on allegations that Mr. Jarman had not been properly cared for while a resident at the facility. (*Id.*)

The case was tried to a jury in June 2011. (11-CT-2531-2550.) The jury returned a special verdict on June 15, 2011. (1-CT-183-185; 11-CT-2548-2550.) The jury found in favor of the plaintiff on the Section 1430(b) and negligence claims.⁶ The jury found that ManorCare had committed

⁴ The plaintiff is Mr. Jarman's daughter.

⁵ The citations to the Clerk's Transcript reference the numbering at the top of the page.

⁶ The special verdict form did not ask the jury to make findings on the elder

382 "violations" of Mr. Jarman's rights, and it awarded \$250 "for each right violation occurrence," totaling \$95,500. (1-CT-184.) The jury also awarded \$100,000 on the negligence claim. (1-CT-185.)

The jury found on the special verdict form that "the defendant engage[d] in conduct that caused harm to the plaintiff with malice, oppression or fraud." (1-CT-185.) Following the verdict, the court granted ManorCare's motion to strike that finding on the ground of insufficient evidence. (4-RT-699:4-699-2:3.) Following an appeal and remand, judgment was entered on September 9, 2014 (5-CT-1160), and both parties appealed again.⁷

On March 14, 2017, Division Three of the Fourth District Court of Appeal issued a published decision reversing the trial court's striking of the punitive damages finding, affirming in all other respects, and remanding for further proceedings on the amount of punitive damages. ManorCare filed a Petition for Rehearing, asserting, inter alia, that the court had decided two key issues without briefing, citing Government Code section 68081. On April 5, 2017, the court denied the petition. This Court granted review.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. Section 1430(b) Authorizes a Single Monetary Award of Up to \$500 in Any Civil Action.

The Opinion held that a plaintiff who prevails on a claim under Section 1430(b) is entitled to recover a maximum of \$500 for each "cause of action." The court explained that the number of causes of action presented in a plaintiff's Section 1430(b) claim is to be determined under

abuse cause of action. (1-CT-183-185.)

⁷ Additional details are set forth in *Jarman v. HCR Manor Care, Inc.* (April 11, 2014) 2014 WL 1401086, and are not relevant here.

the primary right theory, and that the award is applied to each primary right found to have been violated. (Op. pp. 21-22, 25.)

This conclusion finds no support in—and is contrary to—the language of the statute, the statutory scheme of which it is a part, and the legislative history. Ignoring what the Legislature chose to do in drafting, enacting, and amending this statute, the court engaged in impermissible judicial legislation, based on its own views of how the statute should operate. The decision is wrong, as set forth below. The correct interpretation, as articulated in *Nevarrez* and *Lemaire*, is that Section 1430(b) authorizes a maximum award of \$500 per lawsuit, i.e., per "civil action."

1. The Statutory Scheme Governing Nursing Facilities.

a. The Long-Term Care Act.

Section 1430(b) is part of the Long-Term Care, Health, Safety, and Security Act of 1973 (LTCA), which created an extensive system of agency monitoring, oversight, and citations for non-compliant facilities. (Health & Saf. Code, § 1417.1.) The LTCA states:

It is the intent of the Legislature in enacting this chapter to establish (1) a citation system for the imposition of prompt and effective civil sanctions against long-term health care facilities in violation of the laws and regulations of this state, and the federal laws and regulations as applicable to nursing facilities . . . ; (2) an inspection and reporting system to ensure that long-term health care facilities are in compliance with state statutes and regulations pertaining to patient care; and (3) a provisional licensing mechanism to ensure that full-term licenses are issued only to those long-term health care facilities that meet state standards relating to patient care.

(*Ibid.*)

This Court has observed that the purpose of the LTCA is remedial and preventative, not punitive. (California Ass'n of Health Facilities v. Department of Health Services (1997) 16 Cal.4th 284, 294-295 (CAHF); Kizer v. County of San Mateo (1991) 53 Cal.3d 139, 146-148.)

b. Violations That Harm or Threaten Harm to Residents.

The LTCA initially established two classes of violations, which focus on residents' health and safety, and it authorized the Department of Health Services (now the Department of Public Health, or CDPH) to issue citations for violations. Class "A" violations are those that the CDPH "determines present either (1) imminent danger that death or serious harm to the patients or residents of the long-term health care facility would result therefrom, or (2) substantial probability that death or serious physical harm to patients or residents of the long-term health care facility would result therefrom." (Health & Saf. Code, § 1424, subd. (d).) Originally subject to civil penalties between \$1,000 and \$5,000 "for each and every violation" (Motion for Judicial Notice (MJN), Ex. 24, p. 112), Class "A" violations are now subject to civil penalties ranging from \$2,000 to \$20,000 "for each and every citation." (Health & Saf. Code, § 1424.5, subd. (a)(2).) The Legislature subsequently added a category for Class "AA" violations, which are Class "A" violations that the CDPH "determines to have been a direct proximate cause of death of a patient or resident of a long-term health care facility." (Health & Saf. Code, § 1424, subd. (c).) Originally subject to an award "for each violation," penalty amounts currently range from

\$25,000 to \$100,000 "for each and every citation." (Health & Saf. Code, § 1424.5, subd. (a)(1); MJN, Ex. 24, p. 111.)

Class "B" violations are those that the CDPH "determines have a direct or immediate relationship to the health, safety, or security of long-term health care facility patients or residents, other than class 'AA' or 'A' violations." (Health & Saf. Code, § 1424, subd. (e).) Originally subject to civil penalties between \$50 and \$250 "for each and every violation" (MJN, Ex. 24, p. 112), today they are subject to penalties of \$100 to \$2,000 "for each and every citation." (Health & Saf. Code, § 1424.5, subd. (a)(4).)

The LTCA also includes Section 1430(a) (formerly Section 1430), which provides that, if the CDPH does not take action, the Attorney General or any person may pursue a suit for an injunction or civil damages, or both, against a licensee who commits a class "A" or "B" violation. (Health & Saf. Code, § 1430, enacted by Stats. 1973, ch. 1057, § 1; see also Health & Saf. Code, § 1430, subd. (a).) Civil damages under Section 1430(a) are limited to the maximum amount that could be assessed for "A" or "B" citations. (*Id.*)

c. Violations With "Only a Minimal Relationship" to Resident Health and Safety.

At issue in this case are lower-level violations called Class "C," involving matters that have "only a minimal relationship to the health, safety or security of the skilled nursing facility patients." (22 Cal. Code Regs., § 72701, subd. (a)(4) [emphasis added].)

In 1975, a regulatory Patients' Bill of Rights was promulgated (currently 22 Cal. Code Regs., § 72527), and in 1979, the Legislature enacted the Skilled Nursing and Intermediate Care Facility Patient's Bill of Rights, sections 1599 to 1599.4 of the Health and Safety Code.

In 1982, Senator Petris introduced legislation (SB 1930) adding subdivision (b) to Section 1430, to address an omission in the 1979 legislation creating the Patient's Bill of Rights. (MJN, Ex. 2, p. 9.8) The author stated that "existing law does not provide adequate mechanisms to ensure [that residents'] rights are not abused." (MJN, Ex. 6, p. 17.) "Currently, violations [of patients' rights] are 'C' citations and, therefore, not subject to fine or to the civil remedies available to private citizens and the Attorney General as set out in Section 1430[a] of the Health and Safety Code." (*Ibid.*)

Thus, Section 1430(b) provides in relevant part:

A current or former resident or patient of a skilled nursing facility, as defined in subdivision (c) of Section 1250, or intermediate care facility, as defined in subdivision (d) of Section 1250, may bring a civil action against the licensee of a facility who violates any rights of the resident or patient as set forth in the Patients Bill of Rights in Section 72527 of Title 22 of the California Code of Regulations, or any other right provided for by federal or state law or regulation. . . . The licensee shall be liable for the acts of the licensee's employees. The licensee shall be liable for up to five hundred dollars (\$500), and for costs and attorney fees, and may be enjoined from permitting the violation to continue. . . .

(Health & Saf. Code, § 1430, subd. (b) [emphasis added].)

By providing a means to enforce "C"-level violations of rights that did not cause or threaten tangible harm, Section 1430(b) creates a complementary cause of action to Section 1430(a), which permits private enforcement of Class "A" or "B" violations. Where a resident suffers actual harm, he/she still has his/her traditional tort and statutory (such as elder abuse) remedies to pursue damages, and also may pursue a claim

⁸The court granted ManorCare's motion to take judicial notice of the legislative history of Section 1430(b). (Op. p. 4, fn. 1.)

under Section 1430(a), which provides for a substantial monetary award for each citation. (Health & Saf. Code, § 1430, subd. (c).)

2. The Proper Statutory Analysis Demonstrates That Section 1430(b) Authorizes a Single Award of Up to \$500 Per Lawsuit.

Interpreting Section 1430(b) "begin[s], as always, by examining the text of the statute, as 'the statutory language is generally the most reliable indicator' of legislative intent." (Scher v. Burke (2017) 3 Cal.5th 136, 143 [citation omitted].) And, "[i]f the statutory language is not clear, a court may resort to extrinsic sources, like legislative history." (926 N. Ardmore Ave., LLC v. County of Los Angeles (2017) 3 Cal.5th 319, 328.) This analysis demonstrates that Section 1430(b) authorizes a single maximum award of \$500 in any lawsuit. 9

a. The Language of Section 1430(b) Makes Clear That the Statute Provides for a Maximum of \$500 Per Lawsuit.

Section 1430(b) states that a resident may bring "a civil action" against a facility that "violates any rights" and that "[t]he licensee shall be liable for up to five hundred dollars (\$500), and for costs and attorney fees, and may be enjoined from permitting the violation to continue." On its face, the statute authorizes a single maximum \$500 award. The statute does not say that a plaintiff may be awarded up to \$500 "per cause of action,"

⁹ The question argued in the trial court and Court of Appeal was whether the maximum \$500 award was available on a *per-lawsuit* basis (as ManorCare contended) or a *per-violation* basis (as the plaintiff contended)—the same question argued and decided in *Nevarrez* and *Lemaire*. The Opinion created its own "third option"—a *per-cause-of-action* approach.

"per violation," or per anything else other than "a civil action." As Lemaire put it: "The phrase 'up to five hundred dollars' refers to '[t]he suit' to 'be brought.' It is a liability cap for the action." (Lemaire, 234 Cal.App.4th at 867 [citation omitted]; see also Nevarrez, 221 Cal.App.4th at 130.)

Nevarrez held that "we should not read the phrase 'per violation' into section 1430, subdivision (b) since the Legislature did not include it here but did include it in statutes providing for civil penalties in other contexts." (Nevarrez, 221 Cal.App.4th at 130.) Indeed, the Legislature in many other statutes clearly expressed that an award may be multiplied on a particular basis, such as per violation or per day, demonstrating that the Legislature knows how to include language authorizing multiple awards when that is its intent. (Ibid. [citing Health & Safety Code, § 1280.1, subd. (a) [penalty of up to \$25,000 "per violation"]; id. § 1317.6, subd. (c) [penalty "not to exceed five thousand dollars (\$5,000) for each violation"]; id. § 1548, subd. (b) [penalty of "not . . . less than twenty-five dollars (\$25) or more than fifty dollars (\$50) per day for each violation of this chapter"]; id. § 1798.210, subd. (a) [penalty of up to \$2,500 "per violation"]]; see also Lemaire, 234 Cal.App.4th at 867.) A Westlaw search of the Health & Safety Code alone turns up at least 85 statutes in which a monetary award is

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