#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

FILED

FEB 0 5 2018

JANICE JARMAN,

V.

Jorge Navan ete Clerk

Plaintiff and Appellant,

Deputy

HCR MANORCARE, INC., et al.,

Defendants and Appellants.



Court of Appeal of the State of California, Fourth Appellate District
Division Three, Civil No. G051086
Superior Court of the State of California, County of Riverside
Case No. RIC10007764
Hon. Phrasel Shelton and Hon. John Vineyard

### APPELLANT JANICE JARMAN'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Jay-Allen Eisen (Bar No. CA 42788)
Outside Counsel
DOWNEY BRAND LLP
621 Capitol Mall, 18th Floor
Sacramento, CA 95814-4731
Telephone: 916.444.1000
Facsimile: 916.441.2100
Email: jeisen@downeybrand.com

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

#### **ARGUMENT**

I.

#### SECTION 1430(b) AFFORDS FUNDAMENTAL HUMAN RIGHTS FOR ALL NURSING HOME PATIENTS AND RESIDENTS IN A SKILLED NURSING OR INTERMEDIATE CARE FACILITY

A. Rights Conferred and Guaranteed By the Bill of Rights and Other State and Federal Laws It Incorporates.

The Legislature has expressly stated its intent to set forth the rights provided in the Bill of Rights as among the "fundamental human rights which all patients shall be entitled to in a skilled nursing, intermediate care facility." (Health & Saf. Code § 1599.) These rights include:

"The facility shall ensure that these rights are not violated" and "shall establish and implement written policies and procedures which include these rights...." (Health & Saf. Code section 1599.1, subd. (a) [Section 1599.1].) Rights conferred by the Bill of Rights "may only be denied or limited if such denial or limitation is otherwise authorized by law." (*Id.*, subd. (b).) Violation of a patient's or resident's rights is significant enough that "[r]easons for denial or limitation of such rights shall be documented in the patient's health record." (*Ibid.*)

B. Section 1430 provides a remedy for violations that directly affect patients' and residents' health and well-being.

ManorCare trivializes section 1430(b), repeating throughout its brief that it provides a remedy only for Class "C" violations that "[have] only a minimal relationship to the health, safety or security of skilled nursing

facility patients." (OBM at pp. 11, 14, 40, 56.) ManorCare is wrong for several reasons.

First, the section does not state that it is limited to Class "C" violations or words to that effect. To the contrary, the provision gives patients and residents the right to sue for violation of "any rights of the resident or patient as set forth in the Patients Bill of Rights ... or any other right provided for by federal or state law or regulation."

Second, a violation of the Bill of Rights can be a class "B" violation when it causes, or is likely to cause, "significant humiliation, indignity, anxiety, or other emotional trauma," and if serious enough the violation may be class "A." (Health & Saf. Code § 1424.5, subd. (a)(4).)

And, most significantly, many rights guaranteed by the Bill of Rights have a direct relationship to health, safety, and security of patients—for example, the rights "to be free from mental and physical abuse" (Bill of Rights, subd. (a)(10); to be given care to prevent bed sores (*ibid.*); to have the facility use measures to prevent and reduce incontinence (§ 1599.1, subd. (b)); to receive food of the quality and quantity to meet the patient's need in accordance with physician's orders (*id.*, subd. (c)); to have a nurses' call system and for it to be maintained in operating order in all nursing units so calls may be readily responded to (*ibid.*, subd. (f)); to be provided required pain management. (42 C.F.R. § 483.25, subd. (k).)

Like the federal Civil Rights Act (42 U.S.C. § 1983), subdivision (b) gives nursing home residents a means to assert claims for the violation of rights established by other laws and regulations affecting patient health, welfare, and security. (*California Assn. of Health Facilities v. Department of Health Services* (1997) 16 Cal.4th 284, 302; accord, *Wehlage v. EmpRes Healthcare, Inc.* (N.D. Cal. 2011) 791 F.Supp.2d 774, 787–788; *Shuts v. Covenant Holdco LLC* (2012) 208 Cal.App.4th 609, 623, citing *Wehlage*.)

Subdivision (b), thus, encompasses a broad spectrum of violations of residents' and patients' fundamental rights, up to and including the most serious violations for which a facility may be subject to the most severe penalties. (See *Nevarrez*, 221 Cal.App.4th 102, 132.) "The importance of this private right of action is demonstrated by the Legislature's expression that 'under no circumstances may a patient or resident waive his or her right to sue ...' under section 1430, subdivision (b), 'for violations of rights under the Patients Bill of Rights, or other federal and state laws and regulations...'" (*Shuts*, *supra*, 208 Cal.App.4th at p. 624.)

#### II.

# THE LEGISLATIVE INTENT OF SECTION 1430(b) IS THAT A NURSING HOME THAT VIOLATES THE BILL OF RIGHTS SHALL BE LIABLE FOR UP TO \$500 FOR EACH VIOLATION

### A. A court's task in interpreting a statute is to determine and effectuate the intent of the Legislature.

The "overarching principle" of statutory interpretation is that a court "is to determine the intent of the enacting body so that the law may receive the interpretation that best effectuates that intent." (*In re R. V.* (2015) 61 Cal.4th 181, 192 [internal quotation marks omitted].) This is "the primary rule of statutory construction, to which every other rule as to interpretation of particular terms must yield...." (*Dickey v. Raisin Proration Zone No. 1* (1944) 24 Cal.2d 796, 802.) "Indeed, it has been said that the legislative intent in enacting a law is the law itself." (*Ibid.*)

The Legislature's intent must be effectuated even if doing so is not consistent with the strict letter of the statute. (*Ibid.*) "We need not follow the plain meaning of a statute when to do so would 'frustrate[] the manifest purposes of the legislation as a whole or [lead] to absurd results.' [Citations.]" (*California School Employees Assn. v. Governing Board* (1994) 8 Cal.4th 333, 340 [Court's bracketing].)

In interpreting a statute, the court may employ rules of grammar and canons of construction as "tools, 'guides to help courts determine likely legislative intent." (*Burris v. Superior Court* (2005) 34 Cal.4th 1012, 1017; see also *City of Palo Alto v. Public Employment Relations Board* (2016) 5 Cal.App.5th 1271, 1294 [canons "are tools to assist in interpretation, not the formula that always determines it."].) A court must "approach an interpretive problem not as if it were a purely logical game, like a Rubik's Cube, but as an effort to divine the human intent that underlies the statute." (*Burris, supra*, 34 Cal.4th at p. 1017-1018, quoting *J.E.M. AG Supply v. Pioneer Hi–Bred* (2001) 534 U.S. 124, 156, 122 S.Ct. 593, 151 L.Ed.2d 508 [dis. opn. of Breyer, J.].)

When the meaning is unclear or ambiguous, the court may "look to a variety of extrinsic aids, including the ostensible objects to be achieved, the evils to be remedied, the legislative history, public policy, contemporaneous administrative construction, and the statutory scheme of which the statute is a part." (*In re R. V., supra*, 61 Cal.4th at p. 192 quoting *People v. Scott* (2014) 58 Cal.4th 1415, 1421 [internal quotation marks omitted].)

### B. The language of section 1430(b) states that liability is up to \$500 for a single violation.

The first step in statutory construction is to look to the words of the statute, "because the statutory language is generally the most reliable indicator of legislative intent." (Klein v. United States of America (2010) 50 Cal.4th 68, 77, quoting Hassan v. Mercy American River Hospital (2003) 31 Cal.4th 709, 715.) Section 1430(b) states that, in a resident's action for violation of the Bill of Rights, "[t]he licensee shall be liable for up to five hundred dollars (\$500), and for costs and attorney fees, and may be enjoined from permitting the violation to continue." (Emphasis added.) It is difficult to read that language to mean anything other than the plaintiff

may recover up to five hundred dollars for each violation. The nursing home is liable for up to \$500 for "the violation" (singular), not "violations" (plural).

The court in *Nevarrez* rejected this reading because the sentence also refers to costs and attorney fees, and "these are awarded to the prevailing party in a civil action, but not on a 'per violation' basis." (*Id.*, 221 Cal.App.4th at p. 131.) The reasoning is unsound; it conflates two separate matters. A plaintiff may recover damages for each violation of his or her primary rights. Costs are awarded to compensate expenses of the litigation as a whole. The fact that plaintiff may recover only a single award of costs and attorney fees for the action does not in any way diminish plaintiff's right to damages for each violation.

ManorCare makes much of the fact that section 1430(b) does not expressly provide for an award of up to \$500 "per violation" while other sections of the Health and Safety Code include the phrase or words to that effect. ManorCare offers the analysis of the *Nevarrez* court, which noted that "[w]hen subdivision (b) was added to section 1430, administrative penalties were expressly to be assessed 'for each and every violation,'" from which the court concluded that "the absence of this phrase from subdivision (b) supports the inference that the phrase was intentionally left out of that subdivision..." (*Nevarrez*, 221 Cal.App.4th at p. 132.)

The rule of statutory construction that *Nevarrez* applied—that the use of certain language in one part of a statute but omission of that language in another part of the statute indicates that different meanings were intended—"like other canons of construction, is 'no more than [a] rule of thumb' that can tip the scales when a statute could be read in multiple ways. (*Sebelius v. Auburn Regional Medical Center* (2013) 568 U.S. 145, 155–156.) It does not apply when the statute under consideration does not contain language found in another statute but the other statute is not facially

applicable to the same subject. (Covenant Care, Inc. v. Superior Court (2004) 32 Cal.4th 771, 790.)

The statute providing that a skilled nursing facility may be held civilly liable in a civil action "for each and every citation" is Health and Safety Code section 1424.5. It is directed solely at Class AA, A, and B violations. It has no facial application to the subject of section 1430(b), violations of the Bill of Rights. "The Legislature is not required to use the same language to accomplish the same ends." (*Alatriste v. Cesar's Exterior Designs, Inc.* (2010) 183 Cal.App.4th 656, 670–671, quoting *Niles Freeman Equipment v. Joseph* (2008) 161 Cal.App.4th 765, 783.)

- C. The legislative history of section 1430(b) does not disclose an intent to restrict a nursing home's liability to \$500 per action.
  - 1. The history of failed bills that proposed amendments to section 1430(b) sheds no light on the intent of the Legislature when it was enacted.

ManorCare argues that the legislative history of section 1430(b) supports an interpretation that it provides liability for no more than \$500 in a lawsuit. In fact, ManorCare does not discuss the legislative history of the bill that became section 1430(b), SB 1930 (1981-1982 Reg. Sess.) ManorCare relies on histories of subsequent bills that proposed amendments to subdivision (b), but failed. The argument is wide off the mark.

"Unpassed bills, as evidences of legislative intent, have little value.' [Citations.]" (*Granberry v. Islay Investments* (1995) 9 Cal.4th 738, 746.) To paraphrase, the Legislature's failure to enact the proposed amendments "demonstrates nothing about what the Legislature intended' when it previously enacted [section 1430(b)] with the language we are now construing. (*People v. Mendoza* (2000) 23 Cal.4th 896, 921, quoting *Harry Carian Sales v. Agricultural Labor Relations Bd.* (1985) 39 Cal.3d 209, 230; see also *Nevarrez*, 221 Cal.App.4th at p. 133, citing *Mendoza* ["We do

not consider unsuccessful subsequent bills to be helpful in determining the Legislature's earlier intent."].)

The history of failed amendments proposed after the enactment of section 1430(b) "[a]t most ... might arguably reflect" the intent of the Legislatures as to the amendments. (*Mendoza*, *supra*, 23 Cal.4th at p. 921.) But they provide "very limited, if any, guidance even as to that intent," because the failure to enact a proposed amendment to an existing statute may result from such things as the pressure of other business or political considerations. (*Ibid.*) "We can rarely determine from the failure of the Legislature to pass a particular bill what the intent of the Legislature is with respect to existing law." (*Ibid.* [footnotes and citations omitted.].)

2. The legislative history of subdivision (b) does not disclose an intent to limit liability in a section 1430(b) action to \$500.

The relevant history, that of SB 1930, is comprised largely of documents submitted to the Legislature stating views of parties advocating for and against the bill. Only one document from within the Legislature itself addresses whether the bill would entitle a nursing home resident who sues for violation of the Bill of Rights to recover up to \$500 per violation or per action. The Assembly Judiciary Committee Minority analysis of SB 1930 stated, "For each violation the patient could recover a maximum of \$500 plus attorneys' fees at [sic] costs." (RJN 239 [italics added.].)

There is not a single word to the contrary in the almost 100 pages of the bill's history. (See RJN, Exh. 1, pp. 200-290.)

The *Nevarrez* court dismissed that analysis, citing the analysis of the Assembly Judiciary Committee itself, which the court described parenthetically as "stating that in 'action for damages,' licensee 'would be liable for damages up to \$500 and for costs and attorney fees'...." (*Nevarrez*, *supra*, 221 Cal.App.4th at p. 133.) That is not what the committee analysis said. It stated only that the bill would authorize a

patient or resident "to bring an action for damages or an injunction" against a licensee that violates any of the rights protected by the Bill of Rights, and "A licensee would be liable for damages up to \$500...." (RJN 232.) The analysis did not say that the patient or resident could recover \$500 "in" the action.

The *Nevarrez* court also quoted Legislative Counsel's Digest of the amended version of the final version of the bill that passed, "stating only that licensee was made liable for up to \$500." (*Nevarrez*, *supra*, 221 Cal.App.4th at p. 133.) But that is all that Legislative Counsel stated. He did not state that the "licensee was made liable for up to \$500 *in the action*."

When the bill passed, the Department of Aging recommended in an enrolled bill report that the Governor sign the bill. (RJN 289.) "This bill should help assure better quality of care and provide recourse for long-term care residents by creating a more meaningful private right of action, by specifying the amount of damages, and by not restricting damages to present amounts for 'A' or 'B' citations." (*Ibid.*)

Nevarrez dismissed the report on the ground that was "incorrect" in stating that recovery under SB 1930 could exceed the \$5,000 maximum for a Class "A" violation "because the \$500 limit in Senate Bill 1930 was significantly below that maximum." (Nevarrez, supra, 221 Cal.App.4th at 133-134.) That shortsighted view disregards the fact that liability of \$500 for each violation will exceed \$5,000 when a resident proves ten or more violations.

Further disdaining the Department of Aging's report, the court added, "Enrolled bill reports 'do not take precedence over more direct windows into legislative intent such as committee analyses, and cannot be used to alter the substance of legislation....' [Citation.]" (*Id.* at p. 134.) But there is no direct window through which an intent to limit the

maximum amount recoverable in a section 1430(b) action to \$500 is clearly visible.

- D. Additional relevant considerations support interpreting section 1430(b) to provide liability of \$500 for each violation of a patient's or resident's rights.
  - 1. In light of the object of the statute and the evils it was intended to remedy, it must be read to impose liability of up to \$500 for each violation of a patient's or resident's rights.

Particularly when legislative history throws little light on the intended meaning of a statute, the court may consider other factors in construing it, including "ostensible objects to be achieved, the evils to be remedied, ... public policy ... and the statutory scheme of which [section 1430(b)] is a part." (*In re R.V.*, *supra*, 61 Cal.4th at p. 192.) These considerations support the interpretation that section 1430(b) does not limit a nursing home resident or former resident whose rights have been violated to recover no more than \$500 per lawsuit.

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